THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT
ROGER L. COUCH, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

RECEIVED

NOV 20 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-001314

Chemgard, Inc.,.....Appellant,

vs.

Darrell Keith Haynes, Chem-Tek, LLC, and Alfred Bell,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

W. ANDREW ARNOLD
SC Bar # 0065311
JEREMY R. SUMMERLIN
SC Bar # 101383
Horton Law Firm, P.A.
307 Pettigru St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 233-4351
aarnold@hortonlawfirm.net
Attorneys for Appellant Chemgard, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Circuit Court err in granting summary judgment for Respondents on Appellant's claim for breach of contract and in holding that the non-solicitation provision of the contract was patently overly broad, despite the fact that the non-solicitation was narrowly limited to Appellant's existing customers and was necessary to protect Appellant's confidential business information from being used by Respondent Haynes to pirate Appellant's existing customers?

2. Did the Circuit Court err in granting summary judgment for Respondents on all of Appellant's claims and holding that "allegations within the complaint and all four causes of action alleged by [Appellant] are predicated on the breach of the non-solicitation provision as stated in Paragraph 9(d) of [Respondent] Haynes Employment Agreement," despite claims made by Appellant regarding Respondent Haynes's breaches of the contract's confidential information provision and the 30-day notice provision?

3. Did the Circuit Court err in granting summary judgment before hearing and ruling on Appellant's Motion to Amend, which alleged newly discovered claims against Respondents Haynes and Bell that were unrelated to the non-solicitation provision of the employment agreement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2015, Appellant Chemgard, Inc. ("Chemgard") filed a verified Summons and Complaint against Respondent Darrell Keith Haynes ("Haynes"). Haynes, a former salesman for Chemgard, had resigned from Chemgard's employ on May 10, 2015 after fifteen years of employment. The heart of Chemgard's original Complaint involved Haynes's breach of his Employment Agreement ("the Agreement"). The Agreement included a non-solicitation provision and a separate provision protecting Chemgard's confidential business information that

Haynes had access to during his employment. At the time of filing, Chemgard simultaneously sought an injunction from the circuit court that would bind Haynes to the terms of his contractual obligations during the ensuing litigation. Chemgard alleged in its Complaint that Haynes was soliciting Chemgard's existing customers and that Haynes was exploiting confidential business information gained during his employment with Chemgard to do so.

On June 25, 2015, Chemgard filed an Amended Complaint, adding Chem-Tek, LLC ("Chem-Tek")—Haynes's new employer—as an additional defendant for tortious interference with a contractual relationship. Chem-Tek is owned by Al Bell, a former employee of Chemgard. On July 6, 2015, Haynes filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint, and Haynes and Chem-Tek filed a memorandum in opposition to Chemgard's motion for a preliminary injunction. Both motions were heard on July 6, 2015 by the Honorable Perry Gravely.

On July 7, 2015, Judge Gravely denied Haynes's motion to dismiss and granted Chemgard's motion for a preliminary injunction, with instructions to Chemgard's counsel to draft an order. On July 17, 2015, Judge Gravely issued a preliminary injunction order against Haynes, which enjoined Haynes from soliciting or calling on any business or entity that was a customer of Chemgard as of May 10, 2015. Haynes and Chem-Tek appealed the court's granting of the preliminary injunction, although they later dismissed the appeal in May 2016.

On September 25, 2015, Chemgard filed a Second Amended Complaint, adding Al Bell as an additional defendant for the tortious interference with contract claim and adding a claim for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations against all defendants.

On April 29, 2016, Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek filed a motion to dissolve and vacate the July 2015 preliminary injunction, arguing that the non-solicitation agreement was overbroad and

unenforceable. Judge Gravely heard this motion on July 8, 2016 and denied it on August 10, 2016. Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek filed a motion to reconsider on August 11, 2016.

On August 12, 2016, Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek filed a motion for summary judgment. (Judge Gravely delayed his ruling on their motion to reconsider until the motion for summary judgment was resolved.) On August 23, 2016, Chemgard filed a motion to compel, seeking Defendants' attendance at their depositions after they had refused to appear. On September 22, 2016, Judge Roger Couch held a hearing and heard arguments from all parties on both the motion for summary judgment and the motion to compel. He took the motions under advisement, and he did not ultimately rule until November 8, 2016.

On October 3, 2016, and while Judge Couch was still considering the various motions, Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek produced nearly 4,000 never-before-produced emails and documents in response to Chemgard's motion to compel. Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek indicated that nearly 6,000 more documents had been unearthed and would be produced within the following week. (These were documents that Chemgard had requested a year earlier.) They also produced updated phone records for Haynes and Bell. At least one of these emails proved that Haynes had sent Bell copies of Chemgard's confidential business information while Haynes was still employed at Chemgard.

On October 5, 2016, Chemgard took the depositions of Haynes and Bell. During these depositions, Bell revealed that he had solicited Haynes to join Chem-Tek in the months leading up to Haynes's resignation from Chemgard, which violated Bell's two-year prohibition on soliciting Chemgard employees to new employment.

On October 10, 2016, and based on the newly produced documents and deposition testimony of Haynes and Bell, Chemgard filed a motion to amend its Complaint to add additional

causes of action and allegations. Specifically, Chemgard alleged new breach of contract allegations against Haynes due to (1) his failure to provide the contractually-agreed 30 days' written notice; (2) his failure to return the confidential pricing sheet and commission sheets that he'd gotten from Chemgard during his employment; (3) and his use of the information contained in the confidential pricing sheet to wrongfully solicit and narrowly undercut Chemgard's pricing, in violation of the confidentiality provision of the Agreement. Chemgard also added a breach of duty of loyalty claim against Haynes based on newly discovered evidence that Haynes had sent confidential business information of Chemgard's to Bell while Haynes was still employed by Chemgard. Finally, based on testimony from Bell during his deposition, Chemgard added a breach of contract claim against Bell due to Bell's wrongful solicitation of Haynes to come work for Bell; Bell was prohibited by his own Employment Agreement with Chemgard from soliciting Chemgard employees for two years after Bell resigned from Chemgard, an agreement which Bell violated by soliciting Haynes to leave Chemgard and come to work for Chem-Tek. (This motion was pending at the time Judge Couch granted summary judgment.)

On November 8, 2016, Judge Couch granted Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek's motion for summary judgment and dismissed the case in its entirety. Judge Couch held that the non-solicit was overly broad on its face because it prevented Haynes from soliciting any Chemgard customer, regardless of whether he'd had contact with that customer or not. Judge Couch failed to address or mention Smith's sworn affidavit that presented evidence of Haynes's possession of confidential pricing information about **all** of Chemgard's customers and evidence of Haynes's systematic use of that information to surgically undercut Chemgard's pricing. Judge Couch further held that all of Chemgard's causes of action were "predicated" on the non-solicit clause.

On November 11, 2016, Chemgard filed a motion to alter or amend the court's grant of summary judgment. On May 22, 2017, Judge Couch denied Chemgard's motion to alter or amend. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Chemgard's Confidential Business and Pricing Structure

Chemgard is a Greenville-based business that sells and distributes chemicals, chemical products, water treatment chemicals, and equipment, including water management systems, both at retail or wholesale. (Affidavit of William Smith in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, ¶ 3, R. p. 694). Chemgard is also in the business of servicing equipment that utilizes or consumes the products sold by Chemgard. (*Id.*, R. p. 694). Chemgard has business in several states, including South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia, and Alabama. (*Id.*, R. p. 694). Chemgard operates in a highly competitive industry, and although servicing the customers is an important part of the business, the reality is that most of the competition in the industry comes down to price, and whether Chemgard or its competitor provides the best and most competitive price. (*Id.* at ¶ 4, R. p. 694).

Chemgard's pricing structure is contained in a pricing sheet that is given to all Chemgard salesmen, including Respondent Haynes when he worked for Chemgard. (*Id.* at ¶ 5, R. p. 694). This pricing sheet establishes the baseline price for all of Chemgard's products. (*Id.*, R. p. 694). This baseline price is reached by taking Chemgard's cost of the product and adding an additional cost to account for Chemgard's overhead. (*Id.*, R. p. 694). This overhead figure is critical in the calculation. The cost of the goods and the overhead equals Chemgard's baseline price, which is unique to Chemgard. In essence, it is the breakeven point for Chemgard in selling these products. (*Id.*, R. p. 695). The same products are offered to all of Chemgard's customers in all of the

territories in which Chemgard did business, and all salespeople, including Haynes, were given this sheet for purposes of their sales efforts. (*Id.* at ¶ 6, R. p. 695).

Chemgard's sales model was to encourage its salespeople to mark up the baseline price to determine the sales price. This markup provided the additional funds from which each salesperson earned their commission and from which Chemgard earned its profits. (*Id.* at ¶ 7, R. p. 695). This pricing sheet constitutes confidential and proprietary information of Chemgard's because if any other company had access to the sheet or had knowledge of the breakeven point for Chemgard, then that company could undercut Chemgard's pricing with precision. (*Id.*, R. p. 695). Haynes possessed Chemgard's confidential business information after he resigned and never returned his commission statements, which also contained confidential pricing information. (*Id.* at ¶14, 17, R. pp. 696-697).

B. The Terms and Conditions of Haynes's Employment Agreement

In September 2000, Chemgard hired Haynes to sell its products, equipment, and services, with Haynes's primary focus to be on customers and potential customers in Georgia, although Haynes was free to (and did) makes sales outside of Georgia. (*Id.* at ¶ 8, 13, R. pp. 695-696). During the course of his employment, Haynes was the only Chemgard salesman in Georgia. (*Id.* at ¶ 13, R. p. 696). Haynes was responsible for promoting sales growth and for regularly servicing the established customer accounts. Part of his mandatory job duties was reporting weekly sales efforts to the Greenville corporate office. (*Id.*, R. p. 697).

At the inception of the employment relationship and as a condition of being hired by Chemgard, Haynes signed an Employment Agreement ("Agreement") with Chemgard. (*Id.* at ¶ 9, R. p. 695). In Section 9(d) of the agreement, Haynes covenanted:

that during the course of his/her employment by the Company and for a period of twenty-four (24) months after termination of his/her employment, he/she will not:

(i) [s]olicit or call on, either directly or indirectly, any customer of the Company for the purpose of selling any products or services sold by the Company or any products or services similar to those sold by the Company;

(Agreement, Section 9(d), R. p. 46) . Haynes also agreed to the Non-Disclosure Clause of the Agreement, wherein Haynes promised not to use or disclose any confidential information of Chemgard after his resignation or termination. (Agreement, Section 9(b), R. pp. 44-45). The Agreement defines “confidential information” to include “**pricing methods and pricing information, costs, profits, [and] profit margins . . .**” (Agreement, Section 9(a), R. p. 44), (emphasis added).

Because of Haynes’s assent to the non-solicitation provisions and other terms of the Agreement, Chemgard provided Haynes with its customer information, business information, and confidential pricing information. (Smith Aff. at ¶ 14, R. p. 696). This information is competitively sensitive information, which is important and kept in confidence by Chemgard, and became known to Haynes through his employment with Chemgard. (*Id.* R. p. 696). Protection of the trade secret and/or confidential information is one reason that all the salespeople agree to the same obligations: to protect sales information.

C. Haynes’s Resignation and Immediate Wrongful Solicitation of Chemgard Customers

Haynes voluntarily terminated employment on or about May 10, 2015 without providing Chemgard with the contractually required 30-days’ written notice. (Smith Aff. at ¶ 17, R. p. 697). The next day, Haynes began working for Chem-Tek, LLC, which Al Bell (a former Chemgard employee) formed on May 6, 2015 and which immediately began competing with

Chemgard. (*Id.* at ¶ 18-19, R. p. 698). Although the extent of the damage done by Haynes was mostly unknown to Chemgard at the time it filed its lawsuit, the newly uncovered phone records and email evidence of Haynes’s activity immediately after his resignation paint a clear picture of Haynes calling on and soliciting Chemgard’s customers for the benefit of his new employer. (*Id.* at ¶ 20, R. p. 698). Haynes continued to call on these Chemgard customers even after he was enjoined. (*Id.*, R. p. 698).

On June 5, 2015, after finding evidence of Haynes’s misconduct, Chemgard initiated the present lawsuit.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts must apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *See Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). That standard recognizes the seriousness of stripping a party of his or her right to trial by jury, and as such, summary judgment should not be granted lightly. Courts have long warned that “summary judgment is a drastic remedy which ‘should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.’” *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991) (quoting *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co.*, 420 F.Supp. 483, 486 (D. S.C. 1975)). Summary judgment is only appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. “When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Fleming*, 350 S.C. at 493–94, 567 S.E.2d at 860 (citation omitted)

Rule 56(c) provides that a trial court may *only grant* a motion for summary judgment “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the

affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. “Our standard of review in evaluating a motion for summary judgment is to liberally construe the record in favor of the nonmoving party and give the nonmoving party the benefit of all favorable inferences that might reasonably be drawn therefrom.” *Estes v. Roper Temp. Servs., Inc.*, 304 S.C. 120, 121, 403 S.E.2d 157, 158 (Ct. App. 1991). “[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a **mere scintilla** of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) (emphasis added). The trial court in this case failed to apply this standard properly, as will be argued below.

ARGUMENTS

I. Considered in a Light Most Favorable to Chemgard, William Smith’s Affidavit Contains More than Enough Evidence for a Reasonable Jury to Conclude that Chemgard has a Legitimate Interest in Protecting its “Confidential Information” and that the Non-Solicitation Clause was Narrowly Tailored to Protect this Interest.

The circuit court failed to mention a single fact from William Smith’s Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment when granting summary judgment for Defendants and denying Chemgard’s motion to reconsider. Smith’s affidavit provides specific fact after specific fact about Haynes’s access to Chemgard’s confidential and proprietary customer pricing, which was applicable to all of Chemgard’s customers across all of its sales territories, as well as Haynes’s systematic misuse of that information in surgically undercutting Chemgard’s pricing. Haynes, Bell, and Chem-Tek, in turn, did not produce any testimony to refute Smith’s affidavit, which means that the true question for this Court is this: Since Haynes unquestionably had full access to confidential pricing information that applies to all of Chemgard’s customers in all of Chemgard’s sales territories, is the non-solicitation agreement that prohibits Haynes from

soliciting any Chemgard customer overly broad in protecting Chemgard's legitimate business interests?

A. Chemgard's efforts to protect its confidential pricing information is a legitimate business interest for Chemgard.

That Chemgard's confidential pricing information is a protectable interest is clear under South Carolina law. "It is widely recognized that an employer may 'restrain a former employee from disclosing and using confidential information which was developed as a result of the employer's initiative and investment and which the employee learned as a result of the employment relationship.'" *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 37, 731 S.E.2d 288, 295 (2012) (citation omitted). The *Milliken & Co.* court further noted approvingly that:

[l]egitimate interests of an employer that may be protected from competition include: the employer's trade secrets that have been communicated to the employee during the course of employment; **confidential information other than trade secrets communicated by the employer to the employee**, such as information regarding a unique business method; an employee's special influence over the employer's customers, obtained during the course of employment; contacts developed during the employment; and the employer's development of goodwill and a positive image.

399 S.C. at 37, 731 S.E.2d at 295 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Additionally, the South Carolina District Court has held that the employer's "interests to be protected [were] its existing business contacts, customer goodwill, trade secrets, and proprietary information. These concerns are legitimate business interests that warrant protection." *Hagemeyer N. Am. Inc. v. Thompson*, No. C/A 2:05-3425, 2006 WL 516733, at *4 (D.S.C. Mar. 1, 2006).

Smith's uncontradicted testimony established that Chemgard had disclosed confidential pricing information to Haynes as a result of his employment. (Smith Aff. ¶¶ 5, 6, 14, 15, and 16, R. pp. 694-697). Under the standard in *Milliken & Co.*, preventing Haynes's use of such confidential information to pirate existing customers was (and is) a legitimate business interest.

Smith testified that Chemgard's confidential information, most particularly Chemgard's pricing sheet and pricing formula, could be used to unfairly compete for **any** existing Chemgard customer, not just those customers serviced by Haynes. (Smith Aff. ¶¶ 7, 18, R. pp. 695, 698). Clearly, an employer has an interest in protecting its confidential information, and non-solicitation provisions are a necessary component to protecting that information from use when pirating existing customers.

Bill Smith, President of Chemgard, stated (among other things) in his affidavit that:

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