THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
NOV 14 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-001314

Chemgard, Inc., Appellant,
v.
Darrell Keith Haynes, Chem-Tek, LLC, and Alfred
Bell, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

A. Mattison Bogan
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211-1070
(803) 799-2000

William H. Foster
Samuel W. Outten
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 10084
Greenville, SC 29603-0084
(864) 250-2300

Attorneys for Darrell Keith Haynes, Chem-Tek, LLC, and Alfred Bell

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

⁴ Appellant presumptively avoided bringing the breach of Sections 9(a)-(b) of the Confidential Information clause of Haynes' Agreement because the clauses have no reasonable time restriction as required by South Carolina law. *See Fay v. Total Quality Logistics, LLC*, 419 S.C. 622, 632, 799 S.E.2d 318, 324 (Ct. App. 2017), reh'g denied (May 26, 2017) (Because the nondisclosure provisions had the effect of a covenant not to compete, they required a reasonable time restriction like any other non-compete agreement.) Moreover, had Appellant initially filed for breach of Haynes' confidential information provision, Respondents would have timely filed for summary judgment as to Section 9(a), (b) in conjunction with the motion for summary judgment on Section 9(d) of Haynes' Agreement as it is void pursuant to South Carolina law

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S RULE 59(e) MOTION.

Appellant claims that the lower court's failure to provide specific factual findings and its refusal to consider newly discovered evidence, in deciding Chemgard's Rule 59(e) motion, constitutes error of law. (App. Brief at pp. 24-25.) Appellant further claims that the Rule 59(e) motion was meant to "remind the court that Chemgard had already sought a motion to amend its pleadings to account for new evidence" and that the "circuit court should have stayed its ruling on the motion for summary judgment and permitted Chemgard to amend its Complaint to assert the new claims based on the new evidence" and such failure was a "clear error of law." (App. Brief at pp. 25-26.)

As stated by the lower court, a Rule 59(e) motion is "not the proper vehicle to amend" the pleadings to add additional grounds for relief *after* a judgment and a hearing on the merits of the motion. *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172-73, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992); *see generally* James F. Flanagan, *South Carolina Civil Procedure*, at 493-95 (3d. Ed. 2010) (the motion to amend cannot be used to raise an issue not previously before the court and must specifically raise the issue on which a ruling is sought). The purpose of Rule 59(e), to alter or amend the judgment is to request the trial judge to "*consider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits.*" *Arnold*, 309 S.C. at 172-73, 420 S.E.2d at 842 (emphasis added).

For the purposes of granting summary judgment as to all of Appellant's claims, the only issue before the trial court at the September 22, 2016, hearing was a question of law – whether the non-solicitation agreement was enforceable. (September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 17:18-18:11; R. p. 144, line 18-p.145, line 11.) *See also Fournil v. Turbeville Ins. Agency, Inc.*, No. 3:07-3836-JFA, 2009 WL 512261, at *4 (D.S.C. Mar. 2, 2009) (determining whether the language

of a contract is ambiguous and construing an unambiguous contract are questions of law for the court). Accordingly, allegations of breach, the trial court's consideration of William Smith's Affidavit, or consideration of any of the newly discovered "treasure trove of evidence" was wholly unnecessary as there was no genuine dispute of material fact to preclude summary judgment as a matter of law as to the unenforceability of the contract. (App. Brief at pp. 23-25; September 22, 2016 Hearing Transcript, 21:24-23:24; R. p. 148, line 24-p.150, line 24.)

Moreover, a Rule 59(e) motion cannot be used to bring forth additional evidence not considered by the lower court in ruling and is the improper vehicle to avoid prejudice. In order to avoid summary judgment because further discovery is needed to defend a motion, the non-moving party must both make a formal motion for continuance, including a good reason why the time for discovery was insufficient, and point out in a specific manner how the non-moving party will be prejudiced if summary judgment is granted. *McClanahan v. Richland Cnty. Council*, 350 S.C. 433, 441, 567 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2002); *Guinan v. Tenet Health Systems*, 383 S.C. 48, 54-55, 677 S.E.2d 32, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); *CEL Products v. Rozelle*, 357 S.C. 125, 130-31, 591 S.E.2d 643, 645-46 (Ct. App. 2004); *Middleborough Property Regime v. Montedison*, 320 S.C. 470, 479-80, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771-72 (Ct. App. 1996). Further, the non-moving party must demonstrate the likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional relevant evidence and that the party is not merely engaged in a fishing expedition. *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003).

In a recent concurrence where the Court of Appeals found that the lower court acted within its discretion in refusing to continue a summary judgment hearing to allow for additional discovery, Justice Few specifically noted that "[w]hen a party seeks additional time, but fails to comply with the Rule setting forth the procedure for requesting additional time, an appellate court

should be very hesitant to say the trial court abused its discretion in denying the request.” *In re: Estate of Eris Singletary Smith*, App. Case No. 2013-002810 (S.C. Ct. App. December 21, 2016) (Few, J., concurring). Therefore, if Appellant felt that it would be prejudiced by a ruling of the summary judgment motion, then it should have timely filed a motion for continuance or the suggested motion to stay. (*See* September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 30:3-20; R. p. 30, lines 3-20.)

Here, the Appellant moved to compel additional discovery⁵ but did not move for a continuance or make a motion to stay the decision on the summary judgment motion in order to conduct additional discovery. (September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 4:2-21; R. p. 131, lines 2-21.) In fact, Appellant expressly asked that Respondents’ motion for summary judgment proceed and stand on its own. (*Id.* at 39:24-40:2; R. p. 166, line 24-p. 167, line 2.) Appellant dismissed its motion to quash at the September 22, 2016, hearing and the parties agreed to proceed with discovery without the lower court’s guidance on the motion to compel. (September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 4:2-21, 18:25-40:15; R. p. 131, lines 2-21, p. 145, line 25-p. 167, line 15.) Appellant never specified how it would be prejudiced if summary judgment was granted before it could complete discovery. (*Id.* at 30:13-20, 33:18-34:9; R. p. 157, lines 13-20, p. 160, line 16-p. 161, line 9.) Appellant then improperly used its Rule 59(e) motion to argue that the discovery conducted *after* the summary judgment hearing provided evidence of Haynes’ alleged breach of the non-disclosure and confidentiality provisions of Haynes’ Employment Agreement. (App. Brief at pp. 24-26; Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter/Amend at pp. 8-9; R. pp. 610-611.) Appellant cannot

⁵ This Motion to Compel was heard the same day as the Motion for Summary Judgment on September 22, 2016. (September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 4:2-21.)

now fault the circuit court for moving forward on Respondents' motion for summary judgment given its own lack of objection simply because Appellant disagrees with the result.

In any event, it is clear that no amount of discovery or additional evidence would have salvaged the overly broad non-solicitation clause. (September 22, 2016, Hearing Transcript 33:18-34:9; R. p. 160, line 18-p. 161, line 9.) Appellant's argument that there is "plenty" of evidence for a jury to conclude that Respondents improperly solicited customers using confidential information, was not before the lower court as the agreement first has to be enforceable as a matter of law to proceed to the jury. (*Id.*) Accordingly, the lower court had no reason to delay deciding the motion for summary judgment, it properly granted the motion as a matter of law, and it properly denied Appellant's motion to alter/amend its decision. Moreover, since Appellant never made any motion to stay or for continuance, such issue is not properly preserved for appeal. SCACR 201.

The court fully considered the record and South Carolina law in rendering its judgment granting summary judgment to Respondent as a matter of law and denying Appellant's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter/Amend.

IV. SECTION III AND IV OF APPELLANT'S BRIEF HAVE NOT BEEN PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR THE COURT'S CONSIDERATION ON APPEAL AS EACH ARGUMENT FAILS TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SCACR 201 AND 208.

Appellant makes three deficient arguments in Section III and IV of its Initial Brief which should not be considered as they were not preserved for appeal. The South Carolina Rules of Appellate Practice require an order, judgment, sentence or decision in order for an appeal to be taken and require Appellant's Argument section to include the particular issues to be addressed by the Court, "followed by discussion and citations of authority." SCRAR 201(b), 208(b)(1)(D).

First, Section III of Appellant's Brief was not listed as an issue on appeal pursuant to SCACR 208(b)(1)(B), which requires a statement as to each issue presented for review and should

not be considered on appeal. Second, Section IV of Appellant's Brief fails to include any legal support as required by SCACR 208(b)(1)(D) and should not be considered on appeal. (App. Brief at pp. 24-26.) In Section IV, Appellant alleges that, had the lower court considered its October 10, 2016, motion to amend its Second Amended Complaint before granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment or considered newly discovered evidence brought to light in its November 11, 2016, 59(e) Motion to Alter/Amend, then the Court would not have granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment. (*Id.*) In making inapposite assertions, Appellant cites no authority supporting its position that the lower court was tasked with considering a motion to amend after it had already decided the motion for summary judgment. (App. Brief at pp. 24-26.) This argument is wholly inadequate to support a reversal on appeal and is not properly preserved for appeal. SCACR 208(b)(1)(D).

Further, Appellant's "short conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review." *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, App. Case No. 2014-02355 (S.C. Ct. App. December 21, 2016) (quoting *Glasscock Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001)) (internal quotations omitted). Accordingly, "[w]hen an appellant provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court can decline to address the merits of the issue." *Id.* (citing *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011)). Because Appellant has provided no legal authority to support its proposition that the lower court should have addressed his motion to amend or newly discovered evidence prior to granting

Respondents' motion for summary judgment, it has abandoned this argument and it is not presented for review. Thus, this Court need not address the merits of the issue.

Third, Appellant's arguments regarding the lower court's consideration of its October 10, 2016, motion to amend the Second Amended Complaint for a third time should not be considered by the Court of Appeals as there is no ruling, final judgment or decision by the lower court for this Court to properly review on appeal. (App. Brief at pp. 25-26; SCACR 201.)

The South Carolina Appellate Court Rules require a final judgment, appealable order or decision in order for an appeal to be taken. SCACR 201(a). Accordingly, "only a party aggrieved by an order, judgment, sentence or decision may appeal." SCACR 201(b). Appellant's October 10, 2016, motion to amend is Second Amended Complaint for a third time is not preserved for review. *Broom v. Ten State St., LLP*, No. 2015-000583, 2015 WL 5728106, at *1 (S.C. Sept. 30, 2015) (finding Court of Appeals erred in remanding the case because respondent did not seek a ruling on the motion to amend, the Court of Appeals should not have addressed the motion, even if only for the sole purpose of remanding for a ruling); *see also Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (noting that in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled on by the trial court); *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 304 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (finding the issue was not properly before the Court of Appeals and should not have been addressed where the record reflected the circuit court did not explicitly rule on the argument and the petitioner failed to show it made a Rule 59(e), SCRCR, motion to amend or alter the judgment on that ground).

Appellant erroneously argues that the lower court "failed to address both the pending motion to amend and the sworn testimony from William Smith in reaching its conclusions in the November 8th Order or May 22nd Order, rendering its assertion that it had 'fully considered the . .

. evidence' frankly dubious." (App. Brief at p. 25.) Appellant further contends that the lower court "should have stayed its ruling on the motion for summary judgment and permitted Chemgard to amend its Complaint to assert new claims based on new evidence" and that "such failure was a clear error of law." (App. Brief at pp. 25-26.) Appellant's arguments are misguided.

The lower court notified the parties of its decision to grant summary judgment to Respondents on October 7, 2016. (October 7, 2016, Correspondence; R. pp. 701-702.) Appellant's motion to amend its complaint was filed on October 10, 2016, *after* receiving notice from the lower court. (October 10, 2016, Motion to Amend Complaint; R. pp. 548-602.) Chemgard's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter/Amend request Judge Couch's reconsideration of the November 8, 2016 Order granting summary judgment was not the proper vehicle to request the court's consideration of the amended complaint, which was not before the lower court on September 22, 2016. *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172-73, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992); *see generally* James F. Flanagan, South Carolina Civil Procedure, at 493-95 (3d. Ed. 2010) (the motion to amend cannot be used to raise an issue not previously before the court and must specifically raise the issue on which a ruling is sought). Accordingly, it would have been implausible for the Judge Couch to *sua sponte* "stay its ruling on the motion for summary judgment" to permit Chemgard's amendment before Judge Couch, let alone the Appellant, knew the motion to amend was not going to be considered by Judge Verdin on December 5, 2016. (App. Brief at pp. 25-26.) This is particularly true when the record clearly shows Appellant did not ask Judge Couch to stay his consideration of Respondents' motion for summary judgment at the September 22, 2016,

hearing, and only raised these alleged issues after receiving notice that it did not receive the result it perhaps expected.

The Clerk of Court did not remove the Appellant's motion to amend its second amended complaint from Judge Verdin's December 5, 2016, docket until after Judge Couch's November 8, 2016, order was entered and even *after* Appellant's Rule 59 Motion to Alter/Amend Judge Couch's Order filed on November 11, 2016. After receiving notice from the Clerk of Court, Appellant failed to request a ruling on its Motion to Amend Second Amended Complaint. (November 10, 2016, Correspondence; R. pp. 703-704.) Appellant simply cannot rely on Judge Couch's Order filed on May 22, 2016, as the vehicle to appeal the lower courts lack of decision or lack of consideration of a motion to amend without having first requested a ruling or determination from which to appeal. (App. Brief at p. 25.) Accordingly, since Appellant failed to seek a ruling from the lower court this issue is not properly preserved for this Court's review pursuant to SCACR 201.

Likewise, Appellant's notice of appeal requests this Court to review Judge Couch's November 8, 2016, Order and May 22, 2017, Order granting summary judgment, not Judge Verdin's decision on or even her failure to consider Appellant's motion to amend on December 5, 2016. SCACR 208(b)(1)(B).

Pursuant to Rules 201(a) and 208 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Appellant has not preserved these issues for appeal and should not be considered as these issues have been abandoned.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the above, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment. The trial court properly held that Haynes' non-solicitation

provision is patently overbroad as a matter of law and that Chemgard's Second Amended Complaint was wholly predicated upon the invalid and void non-solicitation, and therefore subject to dismissal. This Court should not consider Appellant's arguments not properly preserved for appeal and affirm the trial court's holding in granting summary judgment and denying Appellant's 59(e) motion to alter/amend.